#### FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/24/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/23/2025 4:48 PM

Case #: 1040911

Supreme Court No. \_\_\_\_\_ COA No. 83516-5-I

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JASON DOMINGUEZ, Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jessica Wolfe Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

#

#### A. INTRODUCTION

In *State v. Waits*, 200 Wn.2d 507, 520 P.3d 49 (2022), this Court held that the State bears the burden of recreating a missing record. Here, the juror questionnaires from Jason Dominguez's trial are missing. These questionnaires were extensive and critical to the laborious process of selecting the jury. The State has never indicated it can recreate these questionnaires, yet the Court of Appeals determined the record is sufficiently complete without them. The Court of Appeals' decision contravenes Mr. Dominguez's constitutional right to a record of sufficient completeness, conflicts with *Waits*, and warrants this Court's review.

The Court of Appeals also denied Mr. Dominguez the benefit of this Court's decision in *State v. Crossguns*, 199 Wn.2d 282, 505 P.3d 529 (2022). This Court should take review to correct the Court of Appeals' harsh application of waiver in cases where there has been an intervening change in the law following appeal.

#### B. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW</u>

Jason Dominguez, the petitioner, asks this Court to review the amended opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v*. *Dominguez*, No. 86857-8-I (filed March 24, 2025), pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The right to appeal includes the right to a record of sufficient completeness to permit effective appellate review.

U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 3, 22; *Draper v. Washington*, 372 U.S. 487, 83 S. Ct. 774, 9 L. Ed. 2d 899 (1963). Here, appellate counsel is unable to identify and fully litigate issues on appeal, as the juror questionnaires used to select the jury are missing or otherwise destroyed and cannot be recreated. Due to these missing questionnaires, counsel is unable to determine if Mr. Dominguez was convicted by a fair and impartial jury. The State has never indicated it can recreate the questionnaires, and the Court of Appeals excused this

failure by holding the record sufficiently complete without them. This Court should take review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3), to determine whether Mr. Dominguez's constitutional right to an appellate record of sufficient completeness is violated by the missing juror questionnaires.

2. The trial court permitted the State to admit evidence for the purpose of establishing Mr. Dominguez's "lustful disposition" towards the complainant with regards to Count I and Count II. The jury was also instructed it could only consider this evidence for "lustful disposition." After Mr. Dominguez filed his appeal, this Court held in *State v*. Crossguns, 199 Wn.2d 282, 505 P.3d 529 (2022) that "lustful disposition" is not a proper basis to admit evidence. The Court of Appeals held Mr. Dominguez had waived any objection to the lustful disposition evidence under RAP 2.5(a) because he did not object below, in accordance with the law in effect at the time. This Court should take review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) to clarify that RAP 2.5(a) is a discretionary rule that

does not bar review when there is an intervening change in the law following appeal.

3. Pursuant to article I, section 22, the State may not amend the information after resting, unless the amendment is to a lesser degree or a lesser included offense. The State may also not amend the information after it has "functionally," but not formally, rested, i.e., after it has presented all the evidence for its case-in-chief. The State is also prohibited from amending the information if it would prejudice the defense. Here, the court permitted the State to amend the information after it had "functionally" rested, having presented all of its evidence. Further, the State amended the information at the close of trial in order to preclude the defense from asking for a lesser degree instruction on Count I, which formed the basis of the defense trial strategy. Because the State's amendment prejudiced Mr. Dominguez's constitutional rights to notice, review is warranted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3).

- 4. Article IV, section 16 forbids a court from commenting on the evidence. Here, the jury instructions used the complainant's initials rather than her name, implying she was a "victim" that needed anonymity and protection. This necessarily implied Mr. Dominguez was guilty of a crime against her. This Court should take review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) to clarify that the trial court's use of the complainants' initials in the jury instructions was a comment on the evidence.
- 5. Prosecutorial misconduct violates a defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial and requires reversal if it is prejudicial and cannot be cured by instruction. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I § 22; *Greer v. Miller*, 483 U.S. 756, 107 S. Ct. 3102, 97 L. Ed. 2d 618 (1987). It is misconduct for the prosecutor to misstate the law in closing argument. The law requires juries to decide each count separately and prohibits drawing propensity inferences. Here, Mr. Dominguez conceded that he had communicated with a minor for immoral purposes

(Count III), but had not committed rape of a child (Counts I and II). In rebuttal, the prosecutor argued the jury should convict on Counts I and II *because* Mr. Dominguez had conceded guilt on Count III. This Court should take review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) to clarify that this was prejudicial misconduct.

6. The Constitution protects against compelled speech and self-incrimination. U.S. Const. amends. I, V, XIV; *Wooley v. Maynard*, 430 U.S. 705, 714, 97 S. Ct. 1428, 51 L. Ed. 2d 752 (1977); *United States v. Washington*, 431 U.S. 181, 97 S. Ct. 1814, 52 L. Ed. 2d 238 (1977). Here, Condition 8 of Mr. Dominguez's sentence orders him to submit to polygraph examinations to ensure his compliance with conditions of community custody. This Court should take review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) to clarify that this condition is unconstitutional.

7. The state and federal constitutions protect the privacy of one's own person. U.S. Const. amend. IV; Const. art. I, § 7; Bell v. Wolfish, 441 U.S. 520, 545, 99 S. Ct. 1861, 60 L. Ed. 2d 447 (1979). Here, Condition 9 orders Mr. Dominguez to

submit to plethysmograph testing, which measures sexual attraction by placing a pressure-sensitive device around the penis. This Court should take review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) to hold this condition violates Mr. Dominguez's privacy rights.

- 8. Under the Washington Constitution, people on community custody may not have their homes or property searched absent reasonable cause of a violation and a nexus between the place to be searched and the violation. Const. art.

  I, § 7. Here, Conditions 12 and 21 require Mr. Dominguez to submit to searches of his home, computer, and phone without any cause or suspicion. This Court should take review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) to hold this condition violates Mr.

  Dominguez's privacy rights.
- 9. Due process of law requires fair warning of proscribed conduct, the First Amendment protects the free exercise of religion. U.S. Const. amend. I, XIV; *Kolender v. Lawson*, 461 U.S. 352, 357, 103 S. Ct. 1855, 75 L. Ed. 2d 903 (1983). Here,

Condition 16 requires Mr. Dominguez to stay out of "areas where children's activities regularly occur or are occurring," including "parks used for youth activities," restaurants, church services, and any other location identified by the Department of Corrections. This Court should take review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) to hold this condition is unconstitutionally vague and interferes with Mr. Dominguez's religious exercise.

10. The rights to marry and engage in sexually intimate activity are constitutionally protected, as is the right to freedom of speech. U.S. Const. I, XIV; *Obergefell v. Hodges*, 576 U.S. 644, 671, 135 S. Ct. 2584, 192 L. Ed. 2d 609 (2015); *Lawrence v. Texas*, 539 U.S. 558, 578, 123 S. Ct. 2472, 156 L. Ed. 2d 508 (2003); *303 Creative LLC v. Elenis*, 600 U.S. 570, 586, 143 S. Ct. 2298, 216 L. Ed. 2d 1131 (2023). Here, Condition 17 requires Mr. Dominguez to not date, to disclose his sex offender status prior to sexual contact, and to avoid sexual contact until it is approved by a treatment provider. This Court

should take review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and hold that this condition is unconstitutional and not crime-related.

11. Parents have a fundamental constitutional right to the care, custody, and companionship of their children. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; *Santosky v. Kramer*, 455 U.S. 745, 102 S. Ct. 1388, 71. L. Ed. 599 (1982). Sentencing courts may not restrict this right unless reasonably necessary to prevent harm to the children. Here, Condition 18 prohibits Mr. Dominguez from remaining overnight in a residence where minor children live or are spending the night, thus prohibiting him from living with his own children. There is no evidence Mr. Dominguez presents a threat of harm to his own children, and thus this Court should take review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and hold this condition is unconstitutional.

### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2019, Mr. Dominguez's daughter's friend, Hailey, accused Mr. Dominguez of several incidences of rape, allegedly

beginning when she was 13 or 14 years old. CP 222; RP<sup>1</sup> 758-61. Mr. Dominguez was charged with Second Degree Rape of a Child, Third Degree Rape of a Child, and Communication with a Minor for Immoral Purposes. CP 172.

A jury convicted Mr. Dominguez convicted on all counts. CP 102–104. The court sentenced him to a life sentence, with the possibility for release after 170 months. CP 34. The sentencing court also imposed numerous community custody conditions. CP 36–38, 47–49.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed Mr.

Dominguez's convictions. Op. at 1. The Court also largely affirmed the sentence, but remanded for the trial court to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The report of proceedings contains several volumes. The transcripts for May 22, 2020, October 14, 2020, September 27, 2021, and September 30, 2021 are each individually paginated and are referred to as "[DATE] RP." The transcripts for September 28–29, 2021, October 1, 4–6, 2021, and December 16, 2021 are consecutively paginated and are referred to as "RP."

replace overbroad language on two of the sentencing convictions and to strike \$600 in legal financial obligations. *Id.*E. ARGUMENT

1. Review is warranted to determine if the missing jury questionnaires violate Mr. Dominguez's constitutional right to an appellate record of sufficient completeness.

Article I, section 21 guarantees the right to appeal a criminal conviction. A person "is constitutionally entitled to a record of sufficient completeness to permit effective appellate review of his or her claims." *State v. Tilton*, 149 Wn.2d 775, 781, 72 P.3d 73 (2003); *Draper v. Washington*, 372 U.S. 487, 499, 83 S. Ct. 774, 9 L. Ed. 2d 899 (1963). This constitutional right is rooted in the guarantees of due process, effective assistance of counsel, and the right to appeal. *State v. Waits*, 200 Wn. 2d 507, 518, 520 P.3d 49 (2022); U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 3, 22.

Where appellate counsel did not represent the defendant at trial, the record on appeal must be sufficiently complete for

appellate counsel to "determine satisfactorily what errors to assign for the purpose of obtaining an adequate review on appeal." *Larson*, 62 Wn.2d at 67. Reversal is required when the record on appeal is inadequate for counsel to identify and fully litigate issues on appeal. *Id.* Where a portion of the record is missing, the prosecutor bears the burden of showing any alternative or incomplete record is is sufficiently complete to meet the constitutional standard. *Waits*, 200 Wn.2d at 518, 522.

Here, appellate counsel is unable to identify and fully litigate issues on appeal as the juror questionnaires used to select the jury are missing or otherwise destroyed, and cannot be recreated. Specifically, due to these missing questionnaires, counsel is unable to determine if Mr. Dominguez was convicted by a fair and impartial jury. *See State v. Guevara Diaz*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 843, 854–61, 456 P.3d 869 (2020) (constitutional right to a fair and impartial jury violated where one juror stated on a questionnaire that she could not be fair but was not questioned about this answer and sat on the jury). The State has not met its

burden to recreate or show that the record is sufficiently complete.

This Court should take review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3), to determine whether Mr. Dominguez's constitutional right to an appellate record of sufficient completeness is violated by the missing juror questionnaires.

a. The jury was painstakingly selected, but the jurors' questionnaires went missing following Mr. Dominguez's appeal.

Due to Mr. Dominguez's work as a correctional officer and position in the community, his case garnered significant media attention.<sup>2</sup> Because of the nature of the charges and the media coverage of the case, the parties spent a significant period of time—nearly four days—selecting a jury.

Prior to voir dire, the parties submitted an agreed questionnaire to prospective jurors. 9/27/2021 RP 3–7, 31–32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See, e.g., Kierra Elfalan & Eric Wilkinson, "Former Gold Bar Elementary PTA president accused of child rape," KING 5 (Oct. 10, 2019).

While the final questionnaire is not in the record, it appears the trial court used the State's proposed questionnaire, adding one additional question proposed by the defense, some ministerial changes, and a cautionary instruction. *Id.* at 3–7; CP 271; (State's proposed questionnaire); CP 191–92 (defense proposed questionnaire).

In addition to the typical hardship questions, the questionnaire asked prospective jurors if they or any of their close friends or family members had ever been victims of "sexual assault or abuse." CP 271. The questionnaire also inquired if the jurors, members of their family, or close friends had "ever been accused of, investigated for, or charged with a sexual assault or sexually motivated offense." *Id.* The questionnaire also asked if any of the jurors had seen, heard, or read anything about the case, either through media or word of mouth. CP 191; 9/27/2021 RP 3–7. The questionnaire included the following two questions:

7. Do you feel you can be fair and impartial sitting as a juror in a case that involves accusations of sexual assault? Yes \_\_\_ No\_\_ If no, briefly state why: \_\_\_\_

9. Is there anything that is not covered in this questionnaire that you feel we should know about you or your life experiences that may affect your ability to be a fair and impartial juror in this case? Yes \_\_\_ No \_\_\_ If yes, please explain: \_\_\_\_

CP 271.

The court and parties relied on the answers provided in the questionnaires to screen prospective jurors for bias, and brought several prospective jurors into the courtroom for individual questioning based on their answers to the questionnaire. 9/27/2021 RP 61–62; RP 48–52, 159–62, 316–19. A significant number of prospective jurors were excused after indicating they could not be fair and impartial. For example, in the first panel of 16 prospective jurors, four were excused for cause. *See*, *e.g.*, 9/27/2021 RP 74–77 (Juror No. 52), 90–95 (Juror No. 9), 95–101 (Juror No. 12), 108–17 (Juror No. 15).

Despite best efforts, the record indicates that the court and the parties routinely missed prospective jurors' answers to certain questions on the questionnaire. RP 51, 159–60. The court also occasionally skipped over questionnaires or misread a juror's number. RP 48, 161–62.

A jury of 12 jurors and two alternates was ultimately empaneled, although one of the jurors refused to participate in the trial and was replaced by an alternate. 9/30/2022 RP 96–97, 124–32; RP 369. Following trial, the jury convicted Mr. Dominguez on all counts. 102–104.

Undersigned counsel was appointed to represent Mr.

Dominguez in his appeal. In the course of reviewing the record, counsel determined she needed to review the completed juror questionnaires in order to determine whether Mr.

Dominguez had a fair and impartial jury as required by the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 of the Washington constitution. *See Guevara Diaz*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 854–61.

However, the record does not indicate that the questionnaires were ever filed with the trial court.

Undersigned counsel reached out to trial defense counsel, Eli Jacobsen, and the appellate prosecutor, Matthew Pittman, regarding the questionnaires. Wolfe Affidavit<sup>3</sup> at ¶ 2–3. Mr. Jacobsen indicated he did not have the questionnaires. *Id.* at ¶ 2. Mr. Pittman in turn reached out to the trial prosecutor, Martina Wong, who also did not know what happened to the questionnaires. *Id.* at ¶ 3–4. The Snohomish County clerk and the law clerk to the trial court judge also indicated that they did not have copies of the questionnaires. *Id.* at ¶ 4–5. Given the diligent inquiry of both undersigned counsel and Mr. Pittman, the questionnaires should at this time be presumed missing, destroyed, or otherwise unavailable for the purposes of appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This affidavit was originally filed with Mr. Dominguez's October 14, 2022 motion to reverse his convictions due to an inadequate record on appeal.

b. The record is inadequate to determine if Mr. Dominguez was convicted by a fair and impartial jury.

"The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution both guarantee a criminal defendant the right to trial by an impartial jury." Guevara Diaz, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 854–55. To protect this right, both parties may challenge a juror who demonstrates "actual bias" for cause. *Id.* at 855. A juror demonstrates "actual bias" when they exhibit "a state of mind . . . in reference to the action, or to either party, which satisfies the court that the challenged person cannot try the issue impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of the party challenging." *Id.* (quoting RCW 4.44.170(2)). "If the court has only a statement of partiality without a subsequent assurance of impartiality, a court should 'always' presume juror bias." *Id.* (citations and quotation marks omitted).

It is the court's obligation to excuse a juror when there are grounds for a challenge for cause, even if neither party

challenges that juror. *Id.* "The presence of a biased juror can never be harmless; the error requires a new trial without a showing of prejudice." *State v. Irby*, 187 Wn. App. 183, 193, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015). Accordingly, "if the record demonstrates the actual bias of a juror, seating the biased juror was by definition a manifest error" that can be raised for the first time on appeal. *Id.*; *see also* RAP 2.5(a).

Guevara Diaz was a rape case in which the prospective jurors were given a questionnaire to gauge their ability to be fair and impartial. Guevara Diaz, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 845–46.

Juror 23 answered "no" to the question, "Can you be fair to both sides in a case involving allegations of sexual assault or sexual abuse?" Id. at 846. Juror 23 also indicated on the questionnaire that she was the victim of sexual assault or sexual abuse and that someone close to her had also been the victim of sexual assault or sexual assault or sexual abuse. Id. at 846–47. The court permitted individual questioning of other prospective jurors who indicated they could not be fair and impartial, and several

were excused for cause. *Id.* at 848. However, Juror 23 was not questioned by the court or the parties about her bias. *Id.* at 850. Juror 23 was ultimately seated on the jury, which returned a guilty verdict. *Id.* at 850.

The Court of Appeals held that "[i]n a case of potential juror bias identified during voir dire and not rehabilitated by counsel," a trial judge is obligated to "excuse any juror who is unfit and unable to perform the duties of a juror." *Id.* at 856 (citation and quotation marks omitted). Accordingly, the Court of Appeals determined the trial court should have *sua sponte* questioned Juror 23 individually about her questionnaire answers. *Id.* Because the seating of Juror 23 violated the defendant's constitutional right to a fair and impartial jury, this Court reversed the conviction and remanded for a new trial. *Id.* at 860–61.

Like *Guevara Diaz*, the instant case concerns rape charges. Similarly, the parties here employed a detailed questionnaire, including several questions identical to the

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