# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/7/2025 2:17 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. 104091-1

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JASON DOMINGUEZ,

Petitioner.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JASON J. CUMMINGS Prosecuting Attorney

AMANDA F. CAMPBELL Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

####

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The defendant was charged with rape of a child in the second degree, rape of a child in the third degree, and communicating with a child for immoral purposes as a result of his conduct toward H.S. over electronic communications and in person. He was convicted as charged.

On appeal, Dominguez alleged he was entitled to reversal of his convictions on five grounds. He further argued several of his community custody conditions were unconstitutional. The Court of Appeals affirmed his convictions and remanded for revision of two community custody conditions. *State v. Dominguez*, 2025 WL 896078, No. 83516-5-I (March 24, 2025).

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State agrees with the facts as laid out in the Court of Appeals' opinion. Additional facts are included

regarding the evidence admitted as "lustful disposition" evidence.

At trial, the court admitted several types of messages between H.S. and the defendant. In the fall of 2018, H.S.'s mother found Facebook messages between H.S. and the defendant on a shared electronic device. RP 656. She took photographs of some of the messages with her phone. RP 656–57; State's Exhibits 2–16. She did not confront H.S. about them, only asking generally if anything inappropriate was happening with the defendant, which H.S. denied. RP 657–58.

The photographs showed that, on September 22, 2017,<sup>1</sup> before H.S. and the defendant had engaged in intercourse, the defendant sent H.S. a GIF<sup>2</sup> depicting two women and a man having sex. State's Exhibit 2; RP 443–

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Some of the messages show timestamps and others do not. This message includes a timestamp.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A GIF is a short clip of a moving image. The image is still in the State's exhibit.

44. H.S. responded, "Wtf" with a crying laughing emoji. *Id.* The defendant wrote, "I typed in red fox in the gif and that popped up" and then, "But yeah will you do that for me." *Id.* H.S. responded, "Umm no," and the defendant said, "Why no." H.S. responded, "Because that's gross" with another crying laughing emoji. *Id.* The defendant responded, "It is not." Exhibit 4; RP 445. H.S. responded, "Yeah it is, dude, I'm only 13." *Id.* The conversation ended.

In a later conversation, after H.S. had moved out of Gold Bar, the defendant asked H.S. what she was doing and she said, "Laying down." Exhibit 5; RP 448. The defendant responded, "Without me?" and H.S. replied, "I miss falling asleep on you on the couch while you're playing your game." *Id.* The defendant responded, "Me too." *Id.* 

In another conversation, the defendant said he missed H.S. and said, "Aww, I miss your hugs." State's Exhibit 6; RP 449–50. H.S. was upset because she was

not able to attend Disney on Ice with the defendant and his family. *Id.* The defendant said, "I wish you could[.] Just so I could hold you. You home?" and H.S. responded that she was home and she missed the defendant. *Id.* The defendant wrote, "I need to hold you and kiss you." State's Exhibit 7; RP 450.

H.S. testified she and the defendant said they loved and missed each other often. RP 451. In one exchange, the defendant said, "We all miss you, Mine is a little more." State's Exhibit 8; RP 452. The defendant also said, "Just come back and be mine." *Id*.

H.S. visited Gold Bar while she lived in Oroville and would stay in the defendant's house during visits. RP 453. H.S. realized the sexual aspects of her relationship with the defendant were wrong or might be wrong once she moved away to Oroville, but did not end things with the defendant to avoid hurting his family. RP 474.

When discussing whether the defendant would drive to H.S. in Oroville, H.S. said, "You don't have to come. That's a long way to come just to stay for a day." State's Exhibit 9; RP 452–54. The defendant responded, "You're worth it though." *Id.* at 454.

In an exchange about H.S.'s boyfriend, the defendant said, "All while I pull you away and make out with you." State's Exhibit 13; RP 475. H.S. responded, "Umm, not around him" and the defendant replied, "I know, I wouldn't. You know that." *Id.* H.S. then said, "I'm still not trying to fuck either," and the defendant said, "Wasn't even bringing that up." *Id*.

H.S. explained at trial that she was attempting to tell the defendant she did not want to continue to have sex. RP 475–76. The conversation concluded with the defendant telling H.S., "Just know I love and miss you" and H.S. responding, "I love and miss you too." State's Exhibit 13; RP 476.

In another exchange, the defendant asked H.S., "But when were you pregnant" and H.S. said, "Never." State's Exhibit 16; RP 477. The defendant said, "Okay. I'm confused" and H.S. asked, "Why?". *Id.* The defendant responded, "By the way, you look beautiful." *Id.* H.S. said, "It's not mine. And thanks. I'm 100 percent not pregnant, I promise." *Id.* The defendant then said, "I was going to ask if it's mine." *Id.* H.S. responded, "Nah." *Id.* at 478.

The State also offered into evidence all of the Facebook messages on H.S.'s phone, which started in February 2019 and ended in October 2019. State's Exhibit 33. H.S. explained she had deleted all of the messages before February 2019 because she did not want anyone to find them. RP 501. She further explained she "thought it was wrong," how the defendant spoke to her. RP 502. H.S. deleted other messages because she did not want people to see the defendant "being sexual towards [her]." RP 558.

These undeleted messages contain numerous conversations between H.S. and the defendant, generally regarding what they were doing that day and discussing H.S.'s struggles on her sport's team and with her boyfriend. State's Exhibit 33. The defendant and H.S. repeatedly told each other they missed one another and some iteration of "I love you." State's Exhibit 33 at, e.g., at 4, 10, 11, 37, 115, 134, 139, 140, 142, 155, 159, 162, 163, 168, 174. When H.S. expressed she could not sleep and then that she needed to get up, the defendant said, "I'm sorry love. Wish I could hold you." *Id.* at 4.

H.S. told the defendant she missed "having a father figure around to take care of me. One that actually cares about me." State's Exhibit 33 at 113. The defendant responded, in part, "I'm always here for you. I'll never not be." *Id.* at 112.

The messages also show a record of video chats. State's Exhibit 33 at, e.g., 142, 193, 222, 223, 225. H.S.

testified the defendant asked to see her breasts or take off her shirt "a couple times" during these chats. RP 559–60.

In another conversation, the defendant asked H.S., "So what are you wearing other than that sweater?" and H.S. said, "Basketball shorts and one of [her boyfriend's] shirts." RP 470; State's Exhibit 11. The defendant said, "Sexy" and H.S. said, "I guess." *Id.* The defendant said, "Lol. You're sexy." *Id.* H.S. testified the defendant commented on her body "pretty often" and said, "a lot of the same thing." RP 470.

The State also relied on text messages extracted from H.S.'s phone. State's Exhibit 29. In a lengthy exchange on August 11, 2019, the two repeatedly said they loved and missed each other. State's Exhibit 29 at 54–55 In. 365–389; RP 553–57. H.S. then said she was not going to speak to her boyfriend that night because she was going to sleep. State's Exhibit 29 at 55, In. 393. The defendant responded, "Wish I could be inside you right now." *Id.* at In.

394. H.S. explained at trial that she took the defendant's text to mean he wanted to have sex with her. RP 557.

The defendant sent H.S. one or two photographs of his erect penis through Snapchat, which were automatically deleted after H.S. viewed them. RP 597.

In motions in limine, the State moved to admit all of the "defendant's Facebook text messages and sexual misconduct towards H.S. to show lustful disposition and that communication was for immoral purposes." 9/27/21 RP 16; CP 233–42. Defense counsel stated he had no objection, and the court admitted the messages and conduct. 9/27/21 RP 16. Defense counsel requested and the court granted a limiting instruction on the evidence:

Certain evidence has been admitted in this case for only a limited purpose. This evidence consists of Facebook messages, Snapchat messages, text messages and the defendant's alleged past sexual behavior towards H.S., and may be considered by you only for the purpose of showing the defendant's lustful disposition toward H.S. Any discussion of the evidence during your deliberations must be consistent

with this limitation. This limitation applies only to Counts 1, the allegation of Rape of a Child in the Second Degree, and Counts 2, the allegation of Rape of a Child in the Third Degree, and does not apply to Count 3, Communicating with a Minor for Immoral Purposes.

CP 112

A. DOMINGUEZ FAILS TO DEMONSTRATE THE COURT OF APPEALS' HOLDING THAT HE WAIVED ARGUMENT ON AN EVIDENTIARY RULING IS AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE DETERMINED BY THE SUPREME COURT.

Dominguez challenges the Court of Appeals' application of RAP 2.5 as "harsh." Petition for Review (PFR) at 22. He argues the Court of Appeals "treated this waiver rule as mandatory instead of discretionary" despite the Court including in its opinion the correct statement of law: "the appellate court may refuse to review an error not raised before the trial court." *Dominguez*, 2025 WL 896078 at \*7.

Dominguez does not explain why this issue is a matter of substantial public interest. This is a routine

discretionary application of RAP 2.5. The Court of Appeals determined, based on the circumstances, that it would not address the merits of an argument where defense counsel at trial failed to object to the admission of evidence. The court did not indicate it lacked discretion or misunderstood the law. On the contrary, Dominguez makes no challenge to the case law on which the Court of Appeals relied, all of which supports its decision.

Procedural rules may indeed be "harsh." However, the public has an interest in the criminal justice system not allowing litigation of issues on appeal. See State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988) (holding RAP 2.5 "reflects a policy of encouraging the efficient use of judicial resources. The appellate courts will not sanction a party's failure to point out at trial an error which the trial court, if given the opportunity, might have been able to correct to avoid an appeal and a consequent new trial.").

As explained in the State's Brief of Respondent in the Court of Appeals, the lack of objection in this case meant the reasons for admission of the evidence were explained briefly and summarily. Contrary to other cases involving lustful disposition evidence in which a trial court performs a lengthy analysis and rules evidence is admissible for multiple purposes, the trial court in this case only identified one purpose for admission: lustful disposition. The defendant now asks an appellate court to find prejudice from the jury instruction that defense counsel proposed regarding lustful disposition, as well as admission of evidence counsel agreed was admissible.

The Court of Appeals did not treat the rule as mandatory, indicating instead that, because the change in law was not constitutional, the Court "decline[d] to review" Dominguez's claim. This exercise of discretion is consistent with this Court's holdings in *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 935, 155 P.3d 125 (2007) and *State v.* 

A.M., 194 Wn.2d 33, 39, 448 P.3d 35 (2019), both of which the Court of Appeals cited. Dominguez fails to acknowledge the Court of Appeals' *reasoning* for declining to review the merits of his claim, instead arguing that his circumstances warranted review. PFR at 23–24.

In short, the Court of Appeals acknowledged its discretion, applied case law appropriately, and exercised its discretion properly. Dominguez's belief that the Court of Appeals should have exercised its discretion differently is not grounds for review.

Furthermore, if the Court of Appeals had reached the merits, there would still be no grounds for reversal.

- B. THE ERRONEOUS ADMISSION WAS HARMLESS, AS THE EVIDENCE WAS ADMISSIBLE TO SHOW THE UNEQUAL POWER DYNAMICS AND MANIPULATION BETWEEN THE DEFENDANT AND THE VICTIM.
- 1. While the term "lustful disposition" is now improper, that label encompasses proper purposes for admissibility under ER 404(b).

This Court held "that 'lustful disposition,' properly understood, is not a distinct purpose for admitting

evidence, but a label used to refer to permissible ER 404(b) purposes in the specific context of sex crimes." *State v. Crossguns*, 199 Wn.2d 282, 294, 505 P.3d 529 (2022). "Sometimes, evidence that might have been erroneously admitted under the 'lustful disposition' label is nevertheless admissible because it is necessary to demonstrate the dynamics between the offender and their victim or victims." *Id.*<sup>3</sup>

In that case, the Court found the trial court's reference to "lustful disposition" was harmless because the evidence was properly admitted for a purpose other than showing the defendant's lustful disposition toward the victim, his daughter. *Id.* at 295. The Court in *Crossguns* explained the basis for admitting evidence of this nature:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This is further clarified in the dissent, which argues, "The majority's theory of the proper purpose for which the challenged evidence was admitted is simply the lustful disposition doctrine by another name." *Crossguns*, 199 Wn.2d at 311(dissent).

Evidence of such manipulation shows the planning and intent involved in building a relationship with the child victim in order to obtain the access and opportunity to commit the acts of sexual assault, as we see in this case, which stands in contradiction with the idea that "lust" is an overwhelming motivator and almost impervious to planning. Therefore, evidence of prior sexual misconduct may be relevant and admissible in cases such as this that involve sexual abuse in the context of a relationship with unequal power dynamics.

Crossguns, 199 Wn.2d at 295.

The Court also explained that the trial court properly admitted the evidence to show the victim's state of mind for her delayed disclosure. *Id.* at 296.

The dynamics in *Crossguns* are present here. The defendant, over time, introduced the idea of sex into his relationship with H.S. and then continued to send sexual messages to normalize their sexual relationship so that H.S. would not report his behavior as inappropriate. RP 846–47. Indeed, H.S. denied their relationship was inappropriate when asked by her mother and did not report the defendant's conduct until directly confronted by police.

The defense theory was based in large part on this denial and delayed disclosure. See RP 869.

Just as in *Crossguns*, the evidence of these messages and conduct demonstrated the defendant's planning and preparation, showed his intent, and was relevant to explaining the victim's delayed disclosure. See Crossguns 199 Wn.2d at 296. As the Court explained in that case, "despite the broad language this court has occasionally used to describe 'lustful disposition' evidence, the underlying analysis in *Thorne* and other cases reveals that 'lustful disposition' is more akin to a permissible showing of intent, motive, opportunity, common scheme or plan, preparation, and absence of accident or mistake." Id. at 293, citing State v. Thorne, 43 Wn.2d 47, 54, 260 P.2d 331 (1953). The term "lustful disposition" "is often incorrectly used to admit evidence of behavior that is prominent in crimes of sexual abuse, such as grooming, victim identification, and planning, which has nothing to

do with general sexual attraction." *Crossguns*, 199 Wn.2d at 290 (emphasis added). In other words, while a trial court may use the term improperly, the court does not admit the evidence improperly when it demonstrates grooming and planning, as in this case.

Crossguns and subsequent cases demonstrate that the label "lustful disposition," while improper, encompasses proper purposes for admitting evidence. Where there is an unequal power dynamic, grooming and manipulation, and sexual abuse, evidence previously admitted under the label "lustful disposition" may nonetheless be admissible for other valid purposes.

2. The State's argument regarding the evidence admitted under the label of lustful disposition demonstrates it was used only for permissible purposes.

The State's reliance on the messages and conduct to prove the defendant engaged in a lengthy, intricate, and thought-out plan "stands in contradiction with the idea that

'lust' is an overwhelming motivator and almost impervious to planning." *Crossguns*, 199 Wn.2d at 295.

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